Solicitation NND11373737R—Responses to Questions (RTQs)
One proposer was under the impression that, for certain vehicle types, a vehicle provider could not be licensed, but would be required to operate under a Part 101 waiver instead.  If it is true that certain vehicles must operate under Part 101, then that is at odds with our solicitation which requires that the providers operate under a full license.
It is the FAA's intent to license all of the launches performed under this RFP.
There is a question with regards to the intent of Section 4.2.2 - "Launch vehicles that fall under the jurisdiction of the FAA Office of Commercial Space Transportation shall be licensed;"

Does the program intend to only purchase flights on launch vehicles with launch licenses?
Yes.

Must a launch license be granted by the FAA at the time of the initial award or before the first flight?
A launch license is not required at the time of initial award.  A launch license is required to perform a Task Order under this contract.
Contractual Obligations 

52.222-54, Employment Eligibility Verification (Jan 2009) 

Given our requirement to comply with ITAR regulations, we feel required compliance with this is unnecessary and duplicative. 
This requirement has been removed from the RFP.
52.203-13, Contractor Code of Business Ethics and Conduct (Apr 2010) 

Given the amount of work necessary to understand and ensure compliance on this, we feel this is time consuming and perhaps inapposite for an industry in this stage of development.
This requirement has been removed from the RFP.

52.223-18, Contractor Policy to Ban Text Messaging while Driving 

As most companies are required to not text while driving by state law, it seems onerous for a company to write and implement a policy against such an activity, especially given the requirements in the referenced document. This is burdensome to a company without a compliance staff. 
This clause is required by FAR 23.1105.
2.28 Quality Assurance Plan & Safety and Health Plan. 

Is there a spec required for quality assurance? Depending on the specifications of the required plan, this could be burdensome to a small company.
There are no specifications imposed upon the Offeror for the quality assurance plan, nor for the health and safety plan, other than the requirements listed in the DRDs.
Attachment A 

Section 3.2.1 "is 80% reusable by mass, not including consumables such as fuel or gasses."  Does "80% reusable by mass" indicate 80% reusability in a nominal operating environment or maximum 20% mass replacement in case of anomaly?  How is wear and tear handled?  If an item is replaced after X flights, does the mass replaced get distributed across X flights?  Can people allocate portions of the vehicle that have to be replaced every flight as "consumables?" 
The vehicle shall be at least 80% reusable by mass as part of its normal operation.  As much as 20% of the vehicle, not including expendables, can be replaced between each flight.  This 20% cap includes normal replacement items (e.g., motor casings).  “Wear and tear” items, i.e., items that wear out over a number of flights, do not count toward the 20% requirement. 

We feel that the suborbital reusable launch vehicle industry should be held to a higher standard than 80% reusability. Commercial aircraft are able to achieve higher standards of reusability and that industry should be emulated when developing the commercial reusable suborbital launch vehicle industry. At the very least, 100% reusable vehicles should not be considered in the same class as 80% reusable vehicles.
For the purposes of this RFP, all Qualified Vehicles will meet the same requirements. A Qualified Vehicle that can exceed the minimum requirements may have an advantage in the marketplace.
We feel that reusable vehicles should be able to fly on back to back days at least, and possibly twice in the same day in order to be considered reusable. We'd like to suggest "striking a balance" between two flights in 7 days and multiple flights in the same day with something closer to two flights in three days.
The final RFP states that the Qualified Vehicle must be capable of flying the payload more than once within 5 consecutive days.

Section 3.2.2 "allow for access to the payload ... 1-hr prior to and 1-hr after hazardous operations."  What level of access does this indicate? Activating or deactivating payloads? Swapping payloads? Rebuilding payloads?  Access to the payload 1-hr prior to and 1-hr after hazardous operations may be difficult to achieve and could impact rocket operations. If it's access to a switch, that's different than swapping parts or disassembly. We suggest a minimum 3-hr before and 3-hr after hazardous operations. 

In our experience working with payloads to date, nobody has required access 1-hr prior and 1-hr post hazardous operations.
The RFP has been changed to reflect a 3-hr requirement for pre- and post-flight payload access.
Section 3.2.3 

Can non-rocket propelled vehicles apply for L1 class flights? 
Only Qualified Vehicles can apply for L1 flight.  The Program may consider non-rocket propelled vehicles, if such vehicles exist.
Are altitudes in AGL or MSL? It is our observation that 6km is likely AGL while 100km is likely MSL. Indicating which is which would be particularly helpful for this procurement.
This requirement will be adjusted as follows: flight level L1 altitude requirement will be listed as altitude above ground level (AGL); and flight levels L2 and L3 altitude requirements will be listed as altitude above mean sea level (MSL).
Section 4.1.6 - "The program may conduct a Mission Risk Assessment (MRA) prior to flight."  How long does a standard MRA take? How much time should contractors intend to spend on participating in this activity?  We would like to suggest constraining MRA contributions from providers to two hours of review or meeting with requirements tailored specifically to the vehicle, payload, and flight profile.
The time that an MRA takes to conduct cannot be determined a priori, but is related to the value of the payload and the risk of the mission. The efficiency and success of the Mission Risk Assessment is dependent on the completeness of the Contractor system safety analysis as required in the PWS.

General Questions 

Are launch operators required to insure payloads?
Risk of loss of the payload is borne by the payload provider, except in the case of willful misconduct on the part of the Contractor.  

What are the key performance parameters and vehicle flight requirements?
Key performance parameters are defined in part by the payload requirements (which are unknown at the time of this solicitation) and in part by the performance capability of the Qualified Vehicle.  The government may choose to make solicitations for payloads that meet the performance envelope of the Qualified Vehicle(s).  The government may also issue Task Order solicitations for Contractors to meet the specific requirements of the payload.  The key performance parameters will be defined in the Mission Requirements Document.
Are these real or mock payloads?


The payloads that will fly under this contract are real technology payloads flown for the benefit of the Payload Provider and for NASA.  The payloads in the sample tasks of 3.1.3(d), “Pricing Instructions”, are intended to represent real 1U CubeSat payloads.
How long is the RFP response period?
The RFP response period will be not less than 30 days from the time of issuance.  See RFP for specific guidance.
If this RFP comes out tomorrow, when does the vehicle have to be available to meet the scope of work?
The Qualified Vehicle does not need to be available at the time of the IDIQ award, but the Offeror must describe their capability to provide access to a Qualified Vehicle during the period of performance (RFP Sec. 3.3.2(1)(iii)).  A Qualified Vehicle needs to be available at the time a Contractor on IDIQ contract bids on a Task Order solicitation.  Additionally, at the time delivery of the Task Order proposal, the Qualified Vehicle must have already demonstrated that it can fly the mission profile defined in the Mission Requirements Document (RFP Sec. 1.2).
What/where is the Mission Requirements Document (MRD)? Will this be available to the flight services vendors?
The MRD will be developed for each payload, or class of payloads.  The MRD will be made available at the time of task solicitation.
1) In Attachment A, Performance Work Statement, 4.3 Payload Integration Service Requirements:

4.3.4. provide and operate the appropriate payload facilities and payload support equipment for the payload integration activity.

It would be helpful to understand what are the notional facility requirements. Square footage, temperature control, humidity, cleanliness level, security, etc.
Payload facilities and support equipment are defined by the Contractor to accommodate the payloads that the Contractor intends to integrate and fly as part of their commercial service provision.  The specific payload requirements will be defined in the Mission Requirements Document.  A successfully awarded Task Order will indicate that the Contractor can meet the payload requirements of the MRD.
2) In Attachment B, Data Requirements Description

DRD-1, Quality Assurance Plan

All contactors will have different internal processes and procedures to insure that their Qualified Vehicles meet mission requirements. In order to avoid cost escalation to provide thorough, customer-acceptable, maintainable and inspectable QA plans for this program, NASA should consider giving the contractor the option to waiving this requirement for one or several cost- reimbursable demonstration flights to the highest “L” level proposed. If the flights are successful, then NASA can assume that the internal processes and procedures are sufficient.
Process control, including quality assurance, plus successful flight demonstration are key indicators that the Contractor can deliver a quality product to the government.
1.
Many commercial space providers also offer civilian spaceflights. Please confirm these civilian spaceflights will not be regarded as comparable services under the “most favored pricing” clause in the Maximum Priced Flight section of § 1.2 of the Draft RFP.
Most favored pricing should be based on comparable payload services offered to non-government customers.
2.
Please confirm that the “most favored pricing” clauses in the Maximum Priced Flight and the Special Projects sections of § 1.2 of the Draft RFP relate only to the prices offered to a most favored customer at the time of (or prior to) the submission of a proposal in response to the RFP, and do not relate to prices that the contractor might charge another customer during the period of performance.
For the RFP proposal, pricing is based on most favored pricing at the time of proposal.  For proposal to a task solicitation, pricing is based on most favored pricing at that time.  However, prices proposed to a task solicitation are not to exceed the maximum price offered in the RFP proposal.
3.
FAR 52.209-8 (listed in § 2.4 of the Draft RFP) no longer exists. It is suggested that this clause be deleted from this RFP.
The clause FAR 52.209-8 has been replaced with 52.209-7 Information Regarding Responsibility Matters (Jan 2011).

4.
Given the commercial services nature of NASA’s requirements, it is requested that NASA specify its data needs in the RFP and eliminate FAR 52.227-16, which is currently listed in § 2.11. The inclusion of FAR 52.227-16 presents a high degree of risk to industry, and will only serve to increase the cost of performance.
The clause FAR 52.227-16 has been removed from the RFP.  The data requirements will be specified as part of the Task Order.
5.
Please clarify whether or not the contractor has final decision on the terms of the Mission Implementation Document (“MID”) described in § 4.1.5 of the Draft Performance Work Statement (“PWS”). For instance, in the unlikely event of a disagreement between the contractor, NASA, and/or the Payload Provider regarding the terms of the final MID, how will such disagreements be resolved? Will the contractor have the option to decline a Task Order if agreement cannot be reached on the terms of the final MID?
Sec. 4.1.3 of the PWS has been changed to “develop a Mission Implementation Document (MID) in response to Task solicitations”.  As a result, Sec. 4.1.4 has been deleted.  The terms of the final MID will be negotiated prior to Task Order award.  

6.
Please clarify who bears the risk of loss with regard to payload that is damaged or destroyed during the mission by no fault or negligence of the contractor. The Draft PWS at § 4.1.7 appears to allocate such risk of loss to the contractor. We believe that the risk of loss in such cases is most appropriately allocated to the Payload Provider as the party with the most complete understanding of the character and value of the payload. Allocating the risk of loss to the contractor will increase the cost of contracting.
Risk of loss of the payload is borne by the payload provider, except in the case of willful misconduct on the part of the Contractor.  Sec. 4.1.7 of the DRAFT PWS has been removed.
7.
The RFP appears to be written in such a way as to unintentionally exclude potential offerors who are still in the development phase for a vehicle that is governed by FAA- AST 400 regulations. For example, the RFP definition of Qualified Vehicle states that flights on such a vehicle must be “offered to the public for pay,” and the RFP definition of successful flight requires that such flights “shall be licensed.” These statements, in conjunction with FAA-AST terminology for licensing, would preclude the use of sRLV’s during the developmental phase, during which other regulatory options would otherwise exist (e.g. permissions for 'public-use' vehicles; the potential case-by-case approval to fly government-sponsored CRuSR-class payloads prior to receiving a license). These options would available to industry pending agreement of the FAA; however, the use of "license" in the RFP automatically precludes payload flight activities during an sRLV’s development flight testing. In that regard, we suggest the following modifications to the RFP:

* Section 3.2.2 bullet point one to: “sRLV flights that are or will be offered to the public for pay within the contract period of performance”

* Section 4.2.2 “obtain approval from the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) or other governing authority for the flight activity" (strike second sentence)
This RFP intends to solicit vendors of Qualified Vehicles that are able to provide flight service on licensed commercial flight vehicles.  Since no exchanges of funds are permissible under experimental flight certificates or under an FAA-AST permit, this solicitation is not the appropriate mechanism for the government to utilize the services of the Offeror’s flight vehicles.  Other agreements (e.g., Space Act Agreement) may be utilized to pursue flight opportunities on vehicles that fly under experimental flight certificates or that fly under an FAA-AST permit.
8.
Section 1 of the PWS specifies that NASA is “not considering human-tended payloads to be flown on sRLVs, and there will not be any NASA sponsored participants to sRLVs relating to this particular announcement” and that “payloads...must either be automated or remotely operated”. Is the contractor restricted from offering human- tending of experiments on a no-additional-cost basis?
For this solicitation, human-tended payloads will not be considered. The payloads to be flown on sRLV flights must either be automated or remotely operated.

9.      The Non-Standard and Special Projects sections enable a broad range of services to be provided by the contractor. These are welcome clauses in the RFP and represent an avenue for the contractor to augment the scientific value to NASA beyond direct flight of payloads to altitude. To better focus our proposal response, could NASA provide examples of the type of activities that would be considered? Additionally, can NASA clarify which such examples would not be considered by NASA as requiring the offeror to carry payload or persons for compensation or hire, and therefore may be eligible to be completed under an Experimental Permit given FAA approval?
The final RFP will give examples of non-standard services and special projects.
1. NASA is accommodating a wide variety of payloads and client needs and hence specific guidance may not be practical.  However clarification on Quality Assurance areas of concern with particular emphasis on expectations for payload integration would be helpful. Providing generic payload figures of merit such as mass, volume, power, environmental limits, etc will aid vendors when responding on payload processing facilities, standards and best practices.
Specific payload integration requirements will be described in the Mission Requirements Document for each payload and will be made available with the task solicitation. 
2. Consideration should be given to new launch services entrants with little or no capacity beyond that required for flight vehicle prototype development. As example, regarding the requirement for submission of Quality and Safety and Health plans as basis for contract award, it should be recognized new entrants likely conduct research and development and flight test operations with minimal formal internal documentation and processes. Further it should be recognized such plans are correlated to maturity level of a given flight vehicle and associated support infrastructure. NASA might consider modifying the RFP to accommodate new entrants evolving their systems engineering processes in the interim period between contract award and Task Order award. Such consideration will ease barriers to entry and maximize the number of respondents.
This RFP intends to solicit commercial services from vendors of Qualified Vehicles that are able to provide flight service on licensed commercial flight vehicles according to the requirements of this RFP. 
3. Clarification on what is meant by standard vs. non-standard integration procedures. Examples of how this might be interpreted include; 

a. Non-standard may imply custom integration procedures not indentified in the initial payload interface control document involving fabrication

b. Non-standard may imply payloads that  require special handling procedures

c. All the above
The examples of non-standard services and special projects are included in the final RFP.
4. FAA sub-orbital licensing CFR Part 415 requires launch providers to obtain proof of insurance. Clarification on the status of NASA flight opportunities with respect to launch insurance obligations.

The launch provider must follow the launch licensing requirements of the FAA.
5. Launch vehicle processing standards required or anticipated.

The launch vehicle processing standards are to be determined by the launch service provider.  Payload processing requirements will be established in the Mission Requirements Document.  The Contractor will address how the processing requirements will be met in the task order proposal.

6. Maximum payload mass and volume required/anticipated.

The mass and volume requirements will be identified in the Mission Requirements Document.
7. Clarification on transportation requirements/accommodation for payloads from client to integration facilities.

There are no specific transportation requirements or accommodations for payload.  Where there are special handling, transportation, or accommodation requirements, those requirements will be identified in the Mission Requirements Document.
8. Clarification on time allotted for contractor to submit Mission Implementation Document (MID) from date of aware of Task Order.

The Mission Implementation Document will be due as part of the proposal package for a given task solicitation.
9. Clarification on scope and breadth of MID. It appears from the draft that price, milestones and schedule are separate elements from other information. What other types of data might be expected from the contractor?

The MID, price, milestones, and schedule are part of the Contractor’s proposal to a task solicitation.  Specific requests for additional information, such as the flight data requirements, will be specified in the task solicitation.
10. The draft RFP specifies contractor has (13) days from time of notification of Task Order to respond to the government. Is the time limit normal work week (business) or calendar days? 

The time specified for the response is in calendar days.

11. Considering that some Task Orders will differ in complexity and requirements, might NASA consider for Tasks Orders it deems appropriate, extended time allowed for MIDs beyond the 13 day period? 

Where the government believes that the proposal and MID development for a task solicitation will take longer than 13 calendar days, the task solicitation will clearly state the time allowed for response. 

12. Clarification on requirements for launch support instrumentation (telemetry, data processing/display) and flight safety and flight termination beyond that required for a given launch range.

The launch support instrumentation are dependent on the payloads that will be flown and will be specified in the Mission Requirements Document. The contractor will address launch support instrumentation requirements, if any, in the MID.
13. Preferred launch locations if any.
Unless there are special payload requirements, the launch location is determined by the launch provider.
